### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 8 1996

CLERK SUPPLIES COURT

KEN ELDON LOTT,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NUMBER: 86,108

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 20, 1994, Ken Eldon Lott, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by a Grand Jury with one count of Murder in the First Degree. (PT190)<sup>1</sup> The trial court found the appellant indigent, and the Office of Public Defender was appointed. (PT198) A motion to withdraw as counsel was filed by the Public Defender, and a Notice of Appearance was filed by Joel A. Spector, Esquire on June 2, 1994. (PT202,203)

On June 29, 1994 appellant filed thirty (30) pretrial motions concerning challenges to the Florida Capital scheme; Motion to Restrict Admissibility of Photographs, and an Offer to Stipulate to cause of death. (PT213-360) After hearing, the Motion for Appointment of Investigator was granted. (PT48) In a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The symbol "PT" refers to the pre-trial record; the symbol "TR" refers to the trial record; and the symbol "PP" refers to the penalty phase record.

subsequent hearing, the Motion for Appointment of Co-Counsel was denied. (PT63)

Prior to opening statement, appellant stipulated not to mention character evidence or prior violent acts of a State witness in the opening statement. (TR283) The State agreed not to show photographs in opening statement. (TR285)

During trial, appellant objected to photographs of the victim on the grounds that the photos were cumulative, gory and inflammatory. (TR412, 416, 417, 418, 432, 435) The objections were overruled. (TR412, 414, 416, 417, 426) The appellant made a standing objection to any picture not depicting cause of death, and to picture # 36. (TR437) The objection was overruled. (TR438) There was an objection to picture #49 on the grounds that was photo was repetitive. (TR448) The objection was overruled. (TR448) The objection to picture #50 is overruled. (TR450)

Appellant objected to the introduction of a shirt taken from the appellant's home in Deltona on the grounds of relevance.

(TR468) The shirt was admitted over objection subject to it being tied up later. (TR469) Appellant objected to the introduction of State Exhibit YY (fingerprint cards) on the grounds of relevance. (TR478) The objection was overruled. (TR479) The appellant objected to State XX (photos of fingerprints). (TR482) The trial court admitted the fingerprint cards and photo of fingerprints taken by other deputies into evidence over objection for the limited purpose of showing they do not match state

Witness Whitman. (TR489) The appellant made a standing objection

to the fingerprint evidence on the grounds of relevance. (TR490)
State moved Exhibit C (composite of 41 slides) into evidence over objection. (TR509)

During the state's case, Assistant State Attorney Culhan advised the Court the Rule Sequestration had been violated.

(TR540) During the testimony of the medical examiner, Culhan encountered Sergeant Corriveau, Detective Dana Griffis, and witness Kristen Hayes in the back room. The witnesses were looking through their evidence list and they told Culhan that there had been two sets of pliers discovered at the murder scene, at which time Culhan realized that the Rule of Sequestration had been invoked. (TR540) The trial court conducted a hearing on the possible violation of the court's order concerning the Rule of Sequestration. (TR541-572) Appellant moved for sanctions and requested the court exclude the witnesses. (TR572-73) The trial court denied the motion for sanctions. (TR579)

The appellant objected to additional fingerprint evidence being admitted into evidence (State CC) on grounds of relevancy. (TR622) The objection was overruled. (TR624) Appellant's objection to all fingerprints being admitted into evidence was overruled, and the fingerprints were admitted for the limited purpose of eliminating Whitman as a suspect. (TR624) Appellant objected to introduction of State's Exhibits MMM and ZZ (fingerprint evidence) on relevancy grounds. (TR629) The objection was overruled. (TR630)

A taped phone conversation between appellant and state

witness Whitman was published to the jury over objection.

(TR818) Appellant objected to the admission of Appellant's shoes into evidence on relevancy grounds. (TR823)

The appellant made an oral Motion in Limine concerning the testimony of a State expert concerning the shoe track on the grounds that the prejudicial effect would be outweighed by the probative value. (TR852) Appellant objected to state witness Fischer testifying as to where State Exhibits 57 and 58 (palm prints) were gathered in the victim's home based upon hearsay. (TR889) The objection was overruled. (TR890) The appellant objected to State witness Fischer testifying as to what the sneaker manufacturer reported to her concerning the manufacture of the sneakers. (TR901) The objection was overruled. (TR901) Appellant objected to Fischer testifying as to where in the house the footprint evidence was gathered in the victim's house. The objection was overruled because Fischer was reading from a card that was already in evidence. (TR909)

The State rested. (TR932) The appellant moved for a Judgment of Acquittal on three grounds: No proof of premeditation; no evidence that Appellant was at the victim's home at the time of death; and venue of the crime was not established. (TR934) The motion for Judgment of Acquittal was denied. (TR940)

There was a proffer of defense witness James Whitman concerning testimony of his brother, state witness Robert Whitman's reputation. (TR940) The trial court excluded the testimony of James Whitman as to the reputation of Robert

Whitman. (TR977) There was also a proffer of defense witness
Hortence E. Coleman on the reputation of Robert Whitman. (TR977)
The trial court permitted the testimony of Coleman. (TR987)
Appellant proffered testimony of Coleman that Appellant told
Coleman that the victim was a landscaping client. (TR1038) The
trial court sustained the State's objection. (TR1038)

The trial court denied Appellant's request for a circumstantial evidence instruction. (TR1078) The Appellant renewed the motion for Judgment of Acquittal. (TR1091) The State requested that State Exhibit 000 (photo of ring brought to David Pratt) be admitted into evidence. (TR1098-99) The Appellant objected on the grounds that Pratt could not be sure if the photo was an accurate representation of the jewelry. (TR1099) The Appellant withdrew the request for a circumstantial evidence instruction. (T1097)

The appellant rested his case. (TR1103) The trial court denied the motion for Judgment of Acquittal, and permitted the State to reopen its case to admit State Exhibit 000 into evidence as #63. The State rested its case. (TR1104) During closing argument, the Appellant objected to the State's argument concerning the evidence. (TR1164) The trial court instructed the jury to rely on their memories. (TR1165)

During jury deliberations, the jury requested that Robert Whitman's testimony be read back to them. (TR1213) The transcript of Robert Whitman's testimony was sent back to the jury to be read in the jury room. (TR1214) The appellant was

found guilty as charged.

During the penalty phase, appellant objected to the victim's sister, Anne Tighe, making a prepared victim impact statement to the jury. (PP17) Appellant objected to the admission of Department of Corrections (DOC) records involving letters from DOC officials and a letter from Appellant to DOC officials due to it being beyond the capital sentencing statute and that the letter was hearsay. (PP19-28) The court reserved ruling. (PP28)

Appellant objected to some aggravating factors. Appellant objects to the testimony of Ms. Richardson, a victim of a past armed robbery committed by the appellant. (PP46) The trial court overruled the objection. (PP49) The trial court admitted the judgment and sentence and the letters in the DOC file concerning the attempted escape. (PP103) The state objected to witness Pratt testifying that: "I can't believe for a moment he did that." (PP128) The objection was sustained over Appellant's objection. (PP128) The Appellant objected to testimony concerning Appellant being adjudged delinquent. (PP165) objection was overruled. (PP167) The state further conducted cross-examination designed to reveal Appellant's entire arrest history. (PP167) Appellant made a motion for mistrial based upon the admission of Appellant's arrest history. (PP175) The motion for mistrial was denied. (PP183) Appellant renewed the motion for mistrial which was denied. (PP187, 210) Appellant made an ore tenus motion to limit State's inquiry into prior convictions. (PP224) The trial court ordered that the State limit the crossexamination of Dr. Dee concerning the details of the past crimes committed by the appellant. (PP274)

The appellant objected to the jury instructions on aggravating factors (felony murder and pecuniary gain). (PP328)

The trial court ruled that it will instruct on both factors.

(PP336) Appellant further objected to the jury instruction on witness elimination and on the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAC). (PP344, 346) The trial court permitted a jury instruction on HAC. (PP350) The appellant requested a jury instruction for the jury to consider individually each aggravator and mitigator; the trial court denied the request. (PP366) The appellant renewed the motion for mistrial. (PP369) The trial court gave the CCP instruction.

(PP371) The jury returned a recommendation of a death sentence by a vote of 12 to 0. (PP421)

The trial court conducted a <u>Spenser</u> hearing on June 20, 1995. (PR105) The Appellant denied having any involvement in the murder of Rose Connors and testified that he obtained Rose Connors' jewelry and credit card from Robert Whitman. The trial court found that six aggravating factors were proven beyond a reasonable doubt and that five were used in the weighing process; the trial court also found that two statutory mitigating circumstances were proven and given considerable weight and some weight was given to non-statutory mitigating factors. (TR 574-584) The trial court sentenced appellant to death. (TR 177)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Saturday, March 26, 1994, Ann Ferguson and Rose
Connors, the victim, made plans to have lunch together the
following Monday. They were to meet at Rose Connors' house and
go to the Wekiwa Marina. (TR327) On Monday, March 28th, Ann
Ferguson arrived at Rose Connors' home at approximately 11:15
a.m. as planned. Ferguson rang the bell and knocked on the door
with no response. She then entered the house and called Rose's
name. Ferguson went towards the bedroom and then saw Rose
Connors lying on the bed. (TR329) Ferguson ran to the kitchen
to telephone police. (TR330) Ferguson remained on the telephone
until sheriff deputies arrived. (TR332)

Orange County Deputy Sheriff Timothy Gillespie was dispatched to the Connors' house in Sweetwater West. (TR338)

The deputy subsequently entered the house and saw Ferguson on the phone in the kitchen. Ferguson began screaming and pointing to the bedroom area. (TR340-41) The deputy then observed the naked victim lying face down on the bed in a pool of blood. The deputy observed no sign of life from Rose Connors, and found no other victim or suspects in the house. (TR341-44) Paramedics arrived and entered the bedroom, also observed no sign of life and left the crime scene. (TR342) Deputy Gillespie contacted his supervisor, took a statement from Ferguson, and secured the crime scene. (TR343-44) Fingerprints, palm prints and footprints of the victim were taken at the morgue by the Crime Scene Unit. (T353)

Orange County Sheriff Deputy Dana Griffis of the Crime

Scene Unit responded to the crime scene at about noon. (TR355-56) Deputy Griffis fingerprinted Ann Ferguson and collected a pair of shoes from her. (TR360,365) Deputy Griffis then assisted Deputy Corriveau in taking measurements of the house. (TR361) Deputy Griffis also recovered some duct tape from the dumpster outside the residence. (TR362) The following day, Deputy Griffis collected latent fingerprints from the master bedroom and took prints from the vacuum cleaner with black powder. (TR368-69) The deputy also administered a chemical, Ninhydrin, to the walls of the hallway, door and the bathroom furthest from the crime scene, and to the walls around the other bedroom. (TR372-375)

On March 30th, Deputy Griffis returned to the crime scene for further processing. From March 30th through April 11, Deputy Griffis processed numerous areas of the house including: a pack of cigarettes and all the exterior doors and windows except the front door; (TR377-380) The deputy photographed several latent fingerprint areas on the hallway walls; (TR380) The deputy also photographed a footwear impression located in the dirt outside the house; (TR381) swept the master bathroom, shower stall and bathtub, and photographed latent fingerprints; (TR382-83) the deputy also photographed more latent fingerprints taken from the coffee maker and walls; (TR384, 385, 386) the deputy processed the master bedroom bathroom with black powder and a latent fingerprint was found on the sink and on the shower stall; (TR387-89) Deputy Griffis also collected a piece of gray duct

tape and an empty duct tape roll from the closet in the first bedroom; (TR390) the deputy collected all the water and sink traps, and processed the kitchen cabinet doors, drinking glasses and a toaster; (TR392) He also collected a pair of pliers and a plastic bag from underneath the desk in the first bedroom; (TR392-94) the deputy also photographed latent fingerprints processed with physical developer in the hallway and cut off a red stain from the back of the sofa in the living room; the deputy also processed two latent fingerprint areas on the south edge of the north front door and a latent fingerprint area on the exterior glass of the door; (TR396-98) and he processed the interior doors, took a picture of a purse that was found open and put it into evidence. (TR465) On April 21st, Detective Griffis went to appellant's home in Deltona, Florida and took a V-neck (TR467) Fibers found during the sweep of shirt into evidence. the victim's home were consistent with fibers found in a T-shirt found at the appellant's home. (TR504)

Dr. William R. Anderson, Deputy Chief Medical Examiner for Orange and Osceola Counties, testified. (TR507) When the medical examiner arrived at the crime scene he observed the victim lying face down, unclothed with a towel-like item over the bottom of her buttocks area. (TR511) A large quantity of blood was found around the body and a stab wound to the right shoulder. (TR511) The medical examiner also observed no secondary path of blood from the shoulder, meaning there was no body movement after the bleeding started. (TR512) A significant amount of blood

soaked into the mattress and came down the side of the bed. (TR512) The medical examiner then observed areas on the victim's arms where the blood must have come in contact with but was spared getting on the skin because something was there to prevent it from going onto the skin until it dried. This indicated that the arms were actually in a different position and had been moved after the blood dried. (TR513-14) The medical examiner also found some gray, linear, sticky material which looks like the edges of tape. According to the medical examiner, this indicates that duct tape was on the wrists and that the body was moved and duct tape removed after death, giving the blood a period of time to dry. (TR514-15) There were no blood marks on the feet, showing the victim did not walk in the blood. (TR515)

examiner concluded the wounds were inflicted while the victim was on the bed. (TR516) Fecal matter was found on the victim's foot, in her underwear and smeared in various areas in the house. According to the medical examiner, it's not unusual for someone who is being assaulted and injured to have some defecation as well as urination. It is usually seen in situations where somebody is being frightened, is under a lot of stress or is in a life fighting type of situation. (TR516) There was sticky tape substance on the victim's cheek indicating that duct tape was put over her mouth. (TR517-18) The victim's larynx was fractured; however, medical examiner did not observe petechial hemorrhages (very small hemorrhage in the skin and membranes of the eyes)

which is often seen in strangulation. The lack of hemorrhaging suggests that there was not sufficient compression around the neck to cut-off the venous flow of blood. (TR518) The victim also had a knife wound on the neck which partially cut the jugular vein, causing significant loss of blood. (TR520) The victim had a fresh bruise and a fairly significant amount of acute hemorrhaging into the soft tissue, which is consistent with being forcibly held or pulled by a pair of hands. (TR521) The victim had scrapes on her elbow and knee area from coming into contact with a rough surface. (TR522) There were areas on the left arm where some type of instrument caused irregular damage.

A pair of pliers, which matched the size of the wounds, was found at the scene. The wound was consistent with the contusion and abrasion caused by pliers being applied to the skin in a pinching type manner. (TR523) The thumb of the right hand was cut. The cut was consistent with the hand possibly trying to grab the weapon or defend against the weapon. This was really the only defensive wound found on the body. (TR524) A fingernail was broken, this could have been the result of a struggle. (TR525) There was significant bruising in the area of the thigh indicating that some pressure or some force had been applied in the medial thigh area, possibly from forcing the legs apart. (TR526-27) The victim had injuries to the temporal area indicating some significant amount of blunt force injury prior to death. (TR527) The blow to the head combined with the pressure to the neck rendered the victim unconscious. Once the bleeding

started there was very little motion of the body. (TR528)

The cause of death was bleeding due to the incision wound to the neck which cut the jugular vein. (TR529) The blow to the head was inflicted minutes (up to a half hour) before the neck was cut. (TR531-32) The time of death was determined to be in the general neighborhood of between 5:00 p.m. on March 27th and 5:00 p.m. on March 28th. (TR533-34) There was no evidence that the victim was beaten (like punishment with fists). (TR535-36) There was no evidence of any disinfectant used at the crime scene. (TR536) There was no evidence of sexual battery found by the medical examiner. (TR537-38)

Sergeant Robert Corriveau, of the Orange County Sheriff's Office, was the initial lead crime scene investigator of this homicide. (TR581) Corriveau photographed and made a diagram of the crime scene. (TR582) Corriveau also did a perimeter check of the outside of the house. He found the front door unlocked, the back door locked, and the windows secure. The home's security system did not appear to be tampered with. (TR587) There were no pry marks or other signs of forced (TR588) While processing the crime scene, Corriveau entry. found a wallet on top of the drop ceiling in the kitchen. (TR591) He also found duct tape in a dumpster on Lot 65, adjacent to the crime scene. (TR593) Fecal matter was found on the floor in the foyer. (TR594) Corriveau found a pair of panties underneath a bed that were torn and had fecal matter on them. (TR596)

Kristen Hayes, a forensic analyst for the Orange County Sheriff's Department, responded to the crime scene on March 29, 1994. (TR611) Hayes processed the crime scene for fingerprints and footprints. (TR612-20) Hayes testified that she removed a fingerprint from a doorjamb at the crime scene, and took photographs of a shoe track found in the house. (TR621, 627) Hayes removed a fingerprint from the headboard in the second bedroom and an additional footprint from the foyer. (TR628-29)

Robert Lindsay, a representative of Capital Warrant, presented records from his credit card company of certain credit card transactions from a credit account issued to Rose Connors. (TR647-48) John Levinson, manager of electronic banking for Sun Trust Service Corporation, authenticated business records of ATM transactions that occurred at Sun Trust ATM locations. (TR650-53) Through Levinson, the State also introduced photographs made by the ATM machine at the Douglas Drive ATM that correspond with the transaction at the ATM. (TR654) The first photo taken from the ATM machine was dated March 27, 1995, at 09:23:18. (TR657)

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