IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

KEN ELDON LOTT,

SID J. WHITE

Appellant,

JUL 3 1996

v.

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT CASE NO. 86,108 COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
Assistant Attorney General
Fla. Bar #0302015
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The defendant did not object below to the specific testimony now complained of on appeal, and underlined in the text above, and, thus, his objection on appeal is procedurally barred. Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla.1994); Brown v. State, 596 So.2d 1026 (Fla.1992); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla.1991). Even if the defendant's general objection to the testimony, made prior to her testimony before the jury, was found to reach this specific testimony, error in admitting it is harmless on this record, considering the extensive and weighty aggravation, as well as the fact that such evidence was not considered at all by the judge below, who was a check on jury whim and the ultimate sentencer. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986).

X. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN NOT IMPOSING SANCTIONS WHEN STATE WITNESSES INADVERTENTLY VIOLATED THE RULE OF SEQUESTRATION.

During the direct examination of the medical examiner one of the prosecutors went discovered Sergeant Corriveau, Detective Dana Griffis and Kristen Hayes in the back witness room, looking through their evidence list. They informed the prosecutor that two sets of pliers, instead of one, had been discovered at the scene. The prosecutor then realized they had not been told that the rule of sequestration had been invoked and informed the court of the violation and conversation (T 540). Detective Griffis had already testified (T 542). Sergeant Corriveau and Kristen Hayes had not testified and were to be the State's next two witnesses (T 541). The defense moved for sanctions (T 542).

Detective Griffis was questioned in depth by the lower court as to the content of the conversation (T 542). He indicated that one of them had asked him how it went (T 544). He responded that he had described the crime scene (T 543). He mentioned the duct tape that was in the dumpster and the house (T 544). He said he was asked about the duct tape but wasn't asked about the other duct tape that Sergeant Corriveau had collected. Kristen was trying to refresh her memory and asked about her processing the walls with ninhydrin. Detective Griffis thought that he did that and did not

recall her doing any of it (T 545). Prior to the rule being invoked, the prosecutor discussed pliers and both Corriveau and Griffis indicated that they had collected a pair of pliers (T 546). That conversation was continued. Detective Griffis simply mentioned to Sergeant Corriveau that he needed to get with the prosecutor on it to clear it up. Kristen Hayes mentioned something about their camera filters and Detective Griffis indicated that he had used one of her filters to photograph latents on the walls (T 547). Detective Griffis indicated he had done nothing to help them with their testimony or to coordinate his testimony (T 547). He did not recall Sergeant Corriveau and Kristen Hayes coordinating their testimony (T 549). He advised Hayes that he had to unpackage the prints and identify which were his and which were hers (T 552).

Upon questioning by the court Kristen Hayes, a forensic analyst with the sheriff's office, indicated that she only recalled discussing the pliers (T 555). She had not been sitting in the room very long (T 556). She was looking through her report and they were looking through property receipts because they said something about two pairs of pliers. She said she only knew that she processed one set of pliers (T 557). On cross-examination she indicated that Detective Griffis told her about some of the negatives he had submitted to the laboratory. She asked how he

knew they were her negatives. He indicated that she had written on the envelopes. It didn't concern her very much because she already knew she had made those envelopes for the negatives. She asked how he had testified to her negatives and he said because he looked at the envelopes (T 558). She heard Sergeant Corriveau and Detective Griffis discussing duct tape, i.e., who found what duct tape at the scene. She did not think they were coordinating who found it (T 560). She did not hear Detective Griffis say anything about getting Corriveau's latent prints in (T 561). She did not hear anything mentioned about chain of custody. No one tried to offer her any assistance in terms of her testimony (T 562).

Detective Robert Corriveau told the court that they were back there talking about pliers. He was discussing with Hayes whether the pliers were one and the same on the property form (T 563). Earlier there had been a question whether Detective Griffis had used the pliers Corriveau had collected or ones he had collected, i.e., whether they were one and the same. He did not know Detective Griffis had collected some. Earlier in the morning there was a conversation concerning duct tape at the office. He had collected some duct tape (T 565). Investigator Chavis had also collected duct tape after he did (T 564). They asked where the other duct tape came from. He was not sure where she had gotten it.

She met him out in the front yard of the residence and told him about the duct tape (T 565). He indicated that he did not discuss anything about evidence that might have come in or anything he did with the fingerprints (T 565). The most recent discussion with Detective Griffis occurred an hour before, with Kristen Hayes present (T 565). He didn't learn anything from the discussion except that he collected a pair of pliers, which he already knew, and that Griffis collected a pair later (T 567). He had done work on the case, then was promoted, and Detective Griffis came in and substituted for him. He had collected some pliers and he learned that there was another pair of pliers Griffis thought he had collected and he wanted to make sure that they were not talking about the same pair on the property forms (T 569). The fact that Sergeant Corriveau had collected a pair of pliers and where he collected them was documented long before the hearing (T 569). He further indicated that Griffis did not mention to him that there was an issue raised about chain of custody and did not tell him what the nature of his testimony had been (T 569). He did not overhear Detective Griffis discussing having placed into evidence latent fingerprints lifted by Kristen Hayes (T 571).

At the conclusion of the inquiry the defense asked for the sanction of excluding the witnesses and anything else the court

deemed appropriate (T 573). Counsel argued that there must be some presumed prejudice and the defense did not have to prove prejudice (T 574).

The trial judge indicated on the record that:

As the State says there is a record of all this stuff that they do and there are I don't know how many exhibits. It's up into the three digits already. So that means there's at least 60 or so exhibits already in evidence. I can see how they might be confused.

(T 576).

The court then concluded:

From what I hear, not much has been changed. These guvs aren't going to -- he doesn't remember a conversation about duct tape and I don't see where it's going to make a difference and secondly, the pliers, all he learned is that he wanted to make sure, it sounds like, that when he learned this guy had found some pliers, he knew he had found some pliers and all he was doing was trying to find out if they were talking about the same pliers. about the worst thing I see in all of this. And I'm not real -- 1 don't see there's any indication this guy is going to lie now and change his story. The pliers, they are collected, we know they collected two pairs of pliers...and nothing changes that fact. They can talk all day but one of those pairs of pliers is not going to The State may not want to introduce it, may not care about it but they're there. So I don't think anything that they have done -- and unfortunately, it's not their fault that he got into this mess or fortunately probably that they got in this. And that's the bad part about trials when you don't have all the witnesses here at one time so we can swear them all in like we do in a short trial. We've got them coming in over a period of four days, five, hopefully not, and there's no way for these lawyers to be in there telling them. need a big old sign on the door that says the rule is

invoked; do not discuss this case. But so far I have seen nothing to base any sanctions on. I'm certainly not going to exclude crime scene technicians and people that comb the area and processed the evidence when there's no indication there's anything done deliberately to change any testimony. I don't see that it happened that way. I agree if they were eyewitnesses changing their story about what they saw there'd be a serious problem. I'd be throwing the witnesses out. But I don't see it in this case. Unless we see something that would indicate that somebody has changed their story resulting in this, I would not want to do any more than this.

(T 577-579).

The appellant complains on appeal that there was contradictory testimony among the three witnesses, it is not clear whether their testimony was changed by the violation, and it is certain that the discussion refreshed memories thereby bolstering witness credibility. The appellant concludes that "the trial judge erred in failing to exercise her discretion to determine whether exclusion of testimony in the area of fingerprint collection and processing was warranted under the circumstances." IBA p. 74.

There is no record basis for appellant's claim that the three witnesses provided conflicting accounts of what was discussed. The conversations took place, alternately, among three people, with one simply observing or overhearing part of the time, perhaps with little interest, while two others conversed, and there is no reason why all three should have exact recall.

The State would point out that it is clear from the above excerpt that the trial judge did make a determination and that determination was that exclusion of the testimony, including testimony concerning fingerprints, was unwarranted under the circumstances of this case.

Since such evidence had long been precisely documented, appellant's theory of bolstered witness credibility through refreshed memories does not hold water.

The appropriate remedy for violation of a trial court's order of exclusion or sequestration is a matter for the sound discretion of the court. Lang v. State, 137 Fla. 128, 187 So. 786, 787 (1939). The most extreme remedy, that of disqualification of the witness, may be imposed only after the trial court conducts a hearing and determines that "the witness acted with the knowledge, consent, procurement or connivance" of the party calling the person as a Dumas v. State, 350 So.2d 464, 466 (Fla. 1977). witness. This requirement is justified because 'often a prospective witness will be confused or will not understand what the court said or he may come into the courtroom after the court has made its order. Counsel is often so busy and intent on trial problems that he will not be aware that one of his witnesses is in the courtroom. possibility of confusion is one reason that courts are sometimes

reluctant to order witnesses not to speak to each other. They inadvertently do from time to time and then the trial degenerates into ugly accusations of bad faith that becloud the central issues." See 3 Weinstein, Evidence sec. 615[03] (1996 Edition). It was certainly never demonstrated below that these witnesses acted with the knowledge, consent or connivance of the State. Even where a court determines that the rule violation did occur with the knowledge or connivance of a party or counsel, it may then exclude the witness only if it finds that "the testimony of the challenged witness was substantially affected by the testimony he heard, to the extent that his testimony differed from what it would have been had he not heard testimony in violation of the rule." Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 336 (Fla. 1982).

The lower court properly determined that the testimony of these technical witnesses, which was substantiated by a plethora of exhibits, would not change from what it would have been had this conversation not taken place. As the State pointed out 'evidence technicians, more so than any other law enforcement officers or witnesses document what they do. Every single word of testimony that we're going to hear from these two people has been documented months ago." (T 573). The appellant admits that "it is not clear that their testimony was changed." It was appellant's burden below

to demonstrate that the testimony of the challenged witnesses was substantially affected by what they heard to the extent that their testimony differed from what it would have been had they not heard testimony or had a discussion in violation of the rule. See Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence sec. 616.1 (1996 Edition). Appellant failed to meet such burden, Even on appeal, appellant can reference no testimonial change.

This court has also indicated that exclusion is a drastic step when less drastic steps are appropriate. *Dumas v. State, 350 So.2d*464, 465 (Fla. 1977). Since the violation was inadvertent, less drastic remedies were also inappropriate. No abuse of discretion on

Corporal Griffis had previously testified that he had collected a pair of pliers and a plastic bag from underneath the desk in the first bedroom (T 392-94). Sergeant Corriveau subsequently testified that he collected a pair of pliers from bedroom #1 (T 595). He then turned the pliers over to Corporal Griffis (T 602). Corriveau was thoroughly cross-examined by defense counsel (T 601-A photograph of the pliers and ripped bag was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 29, with no objection interposed by the defense (T 603). Forensic analyst Kristen Hayes subsequently testified that she prepared ninhydrin for use in bedroom #2 and directed where it should be used by Corporal Griffis who actually performed the procedure (T 618). She testified that the photographs and negatives all had her signature on them (T 621;627-629). photos and negatives were objected to only on grounds of relevance, based on the argument that there was no way to determine when the prints were deposited (T 622;626-627;629-630). She was crossexamined by the defense and no argument based on testimonial change was raised (T 634-638).

the part of the trial court is apparent in this case.

XI. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 921.141, FLORIDA STATUTES

The crux of appellant's constitutional challenges has been previously rejected by this court in *Hunter v. State*, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995), and *Fotopoulos* v. *State*, 608 So.2d 784, 794 n.7 (Fla. 1992).

The appellant contends that the standard jury instruction on the aggravator of "heinous, atrocious, or cruel," which was given in his case, is constitutionally infirm. Such argument is without merit. See, Fennie v. State, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla.1994). The issue is procedurally barred, in any event, for failure to present a true alternative. Castro v. State, 644 So.2d 987, 991 n. 3 (Fla.1994). Moreover, the strangulation-stabbing murder in the case at bar qualified as heinous, atrocious, or cruel under any definition, and any conceivable error thus would be harmless. See, Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995).

The appellant complains that the jury recommendation of death is unreliable due to inadequate jury instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated factor. The instruction did not at all track the statute, as appellant claims:

The crime for which Kenneth Lott is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner

without any pretense of moral or legal justification. In order for you to consider this aggravating factor, you must find the murder was cold calculated and premeditated and that there was no pretense of moral or legal justification. Cold means that the murder was product of calm and cool reflection. Calculate means Kenneth Lott had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit the murder. Premeditated means Ken Eldon Lott exhibited a higher degree of premeditation than that required for premeditated murder. A pretense of moral or legal justification is any claim of justification or excuse that insufficient to reduce the degree of homicide, nevertheless, rebuts otherwise cold, calculating nature of the homicide.

(T 410).

Claims that the instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator is unconstitutionally vaque are procedurally barred unless a specific objection is made at trial and pursued on appeal." Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85, 90 (Fla. 1994). The record clearly shows that Lott's objection was premised on his belief that the evidence was insufficient to prove premeditation (T 350-359). Since Lott failed to raise the objection he now asserts, this issue is procedurally barred. Considering appropriate instruction actually given, an the objection was have been baseless.

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